92574-7

FILED
November 30, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 314359

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
DIVISION THREE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

IN RE RAPID SETTLEMENTS, LTD.'S APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF TRANSFER OF STRUCTURED SETTLEMENT PAYMENT RIGHTS

RSL-3B-IL, LTD. and E. JOHN GORMAN,

FILED

Petitioners

ν.

MPANY and

SYMETRA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY and SYMETRA ASSIGNED BENEFITS SERVICES COMPANY,

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW SUBMITTED BY RSL-3B-IL, LTD. and E. JOHN GORMAN

George E. Telquist Telquist Ziobro McMillen Clare 1321 Columbia Park Trail RICHLAND, WA 99352 George@tzmlaw.com (877) 789-LAW1 (509) 737-9500 (fax)

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court will determine whether the contempt order that purports to award "remedial sanctions" to Symetra Life Insurance Company and Symetra Assigned Benefits Service Company ("Symetra") actually assesses punitive sanctions against RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman by punishing them for past acts and by imposing a purge clause whose conditions neither contemnor could ever perform.
- 2. The Court will determine whether the contempt order that purports to award "remedial sanctions" to Symetra comports with the state contempt statutes, with due process protections, and with case law that distinguishes between civil and criminal contempt.
- 3. The Court will determine whether RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman waived their complaint that they could never perform the purge clause's conditions when this Court's precedent entitles contemnors to raise this challenge at regular intervals and petitioners voiced their specific objections not only at the contempt hearing, but also in motions to set aside the contempt order.

## MAY IT PLEASE THE COURT:

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals misapplied the state statutes and case law that differentiate between civil and criminal contempt. The Court of Appeals erred by treating punitive sanctions that punish RSL-3B-IL, Ltd. ("RSL-3B") and E. John Gorman for past acts as "remedial sanctions" that would supposedly coerce compliance with an expired temporary restraining order ("TRO"). In the process, the lower court indulged in a textbook example of circular reasoning: by conducting "civil contempt proceedings," the trial court meted out remedial sanctions that in turn brand the contempt as civil. Op. at 2, 22 & n.7. In derogation of binding precedent, this false premise would preclude criminal contempt from ever occurring in a civil case because a civil case will always beget civil contempt. *See* Op. at 22 n.7.

This erroneous analysis contravenes not only the contempt statutes, which impose no such litmus test, but also this Court's seminal decision that sets the standard for distinguishing between civil and criminal contempt. *See In re Pers. Restraint of King*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 799-800 (1998). The nature and character of the relief itself determine whether the trial court held RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman in civil or criminal contempt, not whether the contempt citation arose out of a civil case. *See id.* The Court should correct this misconception for the bench and bar alike, not to mention those facing contempt charges.

The published opinion also creates uncertainty over the meaning of the operative phrase "intentional disobedience of any lawful order of the court" in the general contempt statute. Until now, Division Three held that "a finding that a violation of a previous court order was intentional is required for a finding of

contempt." *Holiday v. City of Moses Lake*, 157 Wn. App. 347, 355 (2010). Retreating from this unequivocal holding, the court below now says its precedent means "only that an individual must act intentionally to be found in contempt of court." Op. at 21. An "implicit" finding that any intentional act occurred will suffice under this new test, rather than an intentional violation of the previous court order. *See* Op. at 20-21. Public policy dictates that the Court should clarify the statutory standard muddied by the published opinion.

"In determining whether sanctions are punitive or remedial, courts look not to the 'stated purposes of a contempt sanction,' but to whether it has a coercive effect—whether 'the contemnor is able to purge the contempt and obtain his release by committing an affirmative act." In re Dependency of A.K., 162 Wash.2d 632, 646 (2007) (quoting Int'l Union, UMWA v. Bagwell, 512 U.S. 821, 828 (1994)). The general contempt statute and the civil contempt statute likewise codify this coercive element as the definitive factor. See RCW 7.21.010(3), 7.21.030(2).

In Washington, civil contempt results only after the trial court first "finds that the person has failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform." RCW 7.21.030(2). No such finding exists here. By disregarding the "threshold requirement [that the court make] a finding of *current* ability to perform the act previously ordered," the Court of Appeals created a conflict this Court must resolve. *See Britannia Holdings Ltd. v. Greer*, 127 Wn. App. 926, 933-34 (2005), *review denied*, 156 Wn.2d 1032 (2006). The Court should grant review to resolve this conflict in the case law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. The Contempt Order Originates With A Prior Offset

On August 6, 2010, the Benton County Superior Court signed an order purporting to offset two judgments (the "Set-Off Order"). Rapid Settlements, Ltd. ("Rapid") owed an unpaid judgment for attorney's fees to Symetra, while Symetra owed RSL-3B a \$60,000 annuity payment under the other. To offset judgments that involved different parties, Symetra sought to establish mutuality *via* an alter ego theory. The day before the hearing, Symetra filed a reply brief that raised alter ego for the first time. The Benton County Superior Court agreed Rapid and RSL-3B are "one in the same" at a non-evidentiary hearing that took place on July 10, 2010. In RSL-3B's appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Set-Off Order and alter ego finding. See In re Application of Rapid Settlements, Ltd., 166 Wn. App. 683 (2012).

# B. RSL-3B's Collateral Attack In Texas Draws A TRO

On July 7, 2010, RSL-3B sued Symetra in state court in Harris County, Texas seeking to stave off any offset up in Washington. (CP 52) See No. 2010-41653; RSL-3B-IL, Ltd. v. Symetra Life Insurnace Co. & Symetra Assigned Benefits Service Co.; in the 190<sup>th</sup> Judicial District Court of Harris County, Texas. RSL-3B filed suit in Texas before the set-off hearing occurred in the Benton County court three days later. In the Texas state court action, RSL-3B brought claims for declaratory relief, breach of contract, and fraud based on Symetra's attempt to obtain an offset. (CP 54-56) The Texas state court subsequently abated the suit to enable RSL-3B to appeal the Set-Off Order to the Washington Court of Appeals. (CP 456)

After that appeal failed, RSL-3B moved the Texas state court to vacate its abatement order and reinstate the case to the active docket. (CP 697-98) RSL-3B sought to reactivate the Texas action on August 14, 2012, ahead of the time the \$60,000 annuity payment would come due. (CP 593-94) Before seeking such relief, RSL-3B consulted with Symetra's Texas counsel on August 9, 2012 for purposes of completing a certificate of conference. (CP 593-94, 602-03, 697) The same day, RSL-3B served Symetra with a notice setting the hearing date on two motions in the Texas court for August 20, 2012. (CP 71, 594, 598-603, 697-98)

In response to the advance notice given by RSL-3B, Symetra moved the Benton County Superior Court *ex parte* for an "antisuit" TRO. (CP 1-11) Through this "antisuit injunction," Symetra sought to bar RSL-3B from taking any further action in the Texas state court that might "undermin[e] Symetra's right to offset the September 2012 payment against the King County judgment." (CP 9) Symetra filed for such relief on August 13, 2012, and the TRO issued against RSL-3B on August 17, 2012. (CP 1, 118, 120)

The TRO prohibits RSL-3B, and RSL-3B alone, "from taking any further action in Harris County District Court Case No. 2010-41653" and directs RSL-3B "to strike any and all pending motions in that case." (CR 119) By its own terms, the TRO would expire 14 days later on August 31, 2014. (CP 120) The TRO never states that it extends to RSL-3B's counsel or to its Texas counsel Mr. Gorman.

### C. RSL-3B's Actions In Texas Precede Service Of The TRO

On August 14, 2014, RSL-3B filed its first amended petition in the Texas

state court action joined by two secured creditors, FinServ Casualty Corp. ("FinServ") and A.M.Y. Property and Casualty Corp. ("A.M.Y."). (CP 697-701) The Feldman Law Firm LLP represented FinServ and A.M.Y. On the same day, FinServ and A.M.Y. joined in RSL-3B's motion to lift the stay in the Texas state court suit and reactivate the case. (CP 697-701) RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. also moved the Texas court on August 17, 2012 to direct Symetra to deposit the \$60,000 payment in the registry for safekeeping. (CP 575, 697-701) Neither FinServ nor A.M.Y. had ever appeared or participated in the Benton County litigation.

On the night of August 20, 2012, Symetra finally served the TRO on RSL-3B and sent a copy of it by email the following day to RSL-3B's Texas counsel, John Craddock. (CP 137, 612) The TRO mentions neither FinServ nor A.M.Y. Nor does it purport to apply to them as strangers to the Benton County litigation. Mr. Gorman signed none of the filings submitted by RSL-3B in the Texas case, all of which but one predated service of the TRO.

# D. Symetra Baits RSL-3B In Texas To Take Action

On August 21, 2012, Symetra moved to cancel or continue the hearing set by RSL-3B in the Texas court, citing the TRO. (CP 614-26, 666-681, 699) At Symetra's urging, the Texas court set Symetra's emergency motion for hearing on August 23, 2012. (CP 701-02) RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. responded to Symetra's motion ahead of the hearing date scheduled by the Texas court. (CP 682, 700) Symetra also opposed the motion filed by RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. to lift the stay imposed by the Texas court. (CP 858)

The Texas court denied Symetra's request to cancel the hearing on the motions filed by RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. (CP 700, 852-53) Mr. Gorman argued for all three of those "plaintiffs" at that telephonic hearing. (CP 837) In concluding the hearing, the Texas court "reset" the hearing on the motions filed by RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. to August 28, 2012. (CP 700, 853)

# E. Symetra Targets RSL-3B And Mr. Gorman For Contempt

At this point, Symetra went back to the Benton County Superior Court and sought to hold RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman in contempt for allegedly violating the TRO. (CP 152, 164) Symetra admits in its motion for contempt that Mr. Gorman only "appeared before the Washington Court of Appeals in this matter." (CP 156) Mr. Gorman never appeared in the Benton County Superior Court case, never moved for admission *pro hac vice* in the trial court, and never obtained permission to appear *pro hac vice* in the Benton County Superior Court.

On August 28, 2012, the Texas court heard the motions filed by RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. to lift the stay and to deposit funds in the registry. (CP 637-64, 700) Mr. Gorman appeared at the hearing and argued on behalf of all three plaintiffs and movants in the Texas action, RSL-3B, FinServ, and A.M.Y. (CP 639-46, 659-62, 700-01) Over Symetra's opposition, the Texas court lifted the stay for the limited purpose of adding FinServ and A.M.Y. as plaintiffs. (CP 700-01, 834) Otherwise, the Texas case remained abated until further order of the court. (CP 700-01, 834)

The trial court never heard Symetra's motion for contempt on August 31, 2012, because *FinServ* removed the Washington case to federal court. (CP 295-96)

Symetra removed the Texas case to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas on September 10, 2012. (CP 519-20, 701) The federal court in Texas continues to exercise jurisdiction over that case. (See CP 519-21, 548) So, no "Harris County, Texas action" exists anymore. After the Washington federal court remanded the case, Symetra re-urged its motion for contempt. (CP 223, 269-71, 295-96)

#### F. The Trial Court Classifies The Sanctions As Remedial

After a short hearing without any testimony, the trial court found RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman in contempt on January 10, 2013. (CP 524) By that time, the Texas case Symetra removed to federal court had been pending there for four months. (CP 519-20) On August 30, 2012, moreover, Symetra offset against the \$60,000 annuity payment – accomplishing the very act the TRO sought to ensure would happen. (CP 995 n.3) Thus, RSL-3B could no longer take any action that would, in the TRO's own words, "undermin[e] Symetra's right to offset the September 2012 payment against the King County judgment." (CP 9)

The contempt order identifies the "Harris County, Texas action" prosecuted by RSL-3B as "a lawsuit in Harris County, Texas, No. 2010-41653." (CP 525-26) When the TRO issued in mid-August 2012, the Texas federal court action had yet to exist because Symetra removed the "Harris County, Texas action" on September 10, 2012. (CP 519-20) The TRO, which the contempt order enforces, could never relate to or reference the Texas federal court case that had not even begun.

The Benton County Superior Court found that RSL-3B "has not stricken its pending motions in said lawsuit and has opposed Symetra's motion to extend the

time for hearing said motions. Mr. Gorman argued for the extension of time in a hearing on August 23, 2012 and for an abatement of the stay at a hearing on August 28, 2012." (CP 525) "Good cause" supposedly exists "for the imposition of remedial sanctions." (CP 525) The trial court also made a finding that RSL-3B "and its agent and attorney Mr. Gorman have disobeyed this Court's Temporary Restraining Order against 3B and are hereby found in contempt." (CP 525)

The contempt order requires RSL-3B to pay Symetra "its costs and attorney's fees" in bringing the motion for contempt and in defending "the Harris County, Texas action between August 20, 2012, when the Court's Temporary Restraining Order was served on 3B," and January 10, 2013. (CP 526) This figure totals \$47,024.50. (CP 526) The contempt order further imposed a "one-time forfeiture" of \$1,000 on "Attorney Gorman, as attorney and agent for 3B." (CP 526)

The contempt order includes a purge clause mandating that RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman to "strike all pending motions in the Harris County, Texas, action and agree not to file any motions or take any other action in said case while an injunction from this Court restraining them from doing so is in effect." (CP 526) In this sense, the purge clause enforces something *other than the TRO*—the original order under which Symetra moved for contempt. (*See* CP 118-20, 152-59) The TRO expired on August 31, 2012, so it was no longer "in effect" when the contempt order issued. (CP 120)

The trial court made a finding that RSL-3B, "through the Feldman Law Firm and particularly attorney John Gorman, has continued to pursue a lawsuit in Harris County, Texas, No. 2010-41653, despite the Court's August 17, 2012, Temporary

Restraining Order enjoining 3B from taking any further action in said lawsuit and ordering 3B to strike any and all pending motions therein." (CP 525) This finding pertains to the state of affairs that supposedly exists on January 10, 2013 – that is, four months after Symetra removed the Texas state court action to federal court. (CP 519-20) No "lawsuit in Harris County, Texas, No. 2010-41653," remained pending at that time. Nor did the TRO continue in effect beyond August 31, 2012. (CP 120)

# ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

### A. The Nature Of The Relief Confirms A Punitive Sanction

The Court of Appeals disregarded decades of Washington case law and U.S. Supreme Court precedent in characterizing the contempt as "civil." Op. at 16, 22 & n.7. Rather than focusing on "the character of the relief" granted by the trial court, the Court of Appeals zeroes in on the nature of the proceeding itself to conclude that the trial court imposed a coercive sanction. See In re Pers. Restraint of King, 110 Wn.2d at 799-800. According to the court below, merely treating a motion for contempt as a civil matter ipso facto gives rise to civil contempt. Op. at 22 & n.7.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly concludes the trial court awarded coercive sanctions because, on its face, "[t]he proceeding was initiated and conducted as a civil contempt proceeding." *Id.* As the lower court's analysis goes, coercive or remedial sanctions supposedly sprang out of this "civil contempt proceeding." *Id.* This erroneous reasoning turns long-standing legal principles governing contempt on their head and conflicts with this Court's opinions.

This Court follows the framework articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in

Bagwell. In differentiating between punitive and coercive sanctions, this Court will "look to the substance of the proceeding and the character of the relief that the proceeding will afford." In re Pers. Restraint of King, 110 Wn.2d at 799. The context and purpose of the sanction therefore render immaterial the trial court's attempt to characterize the relief it awarded Symetra as "remedial." (CP 525) The trial court's authority to impose sanctions for contempt frames a question of law subject to de novo review. In re Interest of Silva, 166 Wn.2d 133, 140 (2009).

The U.S. Supreme Court's most famous case on contempt debunks the flawed reasoning used by the Court of Appeals. In *Bagwell*, the Supreme Court held that a trial court cited a union for *criminal* contempt and awarded *punitive* sanctions in the form of fines even though the case progressed in federal court as a *civil* action arising out of a labor dispute. *Bagwell*, 512 U.S. at 823-24, 838. The Supreme Court laid down the rule, long followed by Washington courts, "that whether a contempt is civil or criminal turns on the 'character and purpose' of the sanction involved," *id.* at 827, not on whether "[t]he proceeding was initiated and conducted as a civil contempt proceeding." Op. at 22 n.7. In flatly refusing to analyze the contempt proceedings as criminal, the Court of Appeals erred in the process. *See id.* 

Division Three failed to follow its own precedent for classifying the contempt as civil by looking to the "character of the relief." *See State v. John*, 69 Wn. App. 615, 618-20 (1993). The punitive sanctions punish past acts allegedly committed by RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman – acts those parties can never undo, take back, or correct. RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman can never comply with the TRO's terms that prohibit them

from taking any action in "Harris County District Court Case No. 2010-41653." Indeed, the TRO expired of its own accord on August 31, 2012, and "Harris County District Court Case No. 2010-41653" no longer exists after Symetra removed the entire action to federal court on September 10, 2012.

The inescapable "nature" of the relief ordered by the trial court serves as the hallmark of a punitive sanction and criminal contempt. See State v. Buckley, 83 Wn. App. 707, 711, 713-14 (1996); In re Interest of M.B., 101 Wn. App. 425, 438-39, 444-45, 447 (2000), review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1027 (2001). Thus, "conclusions about the civil or criminal nature of a contempt sanction are properly drawn, not from the 'subjective intent of a State's laws and its courts,' but 'from an examination of the character of the relief sought." Bagwell, 512 U.S. at 828 (quoting Hicks v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624, 635-36 (1988)). The Court of Appeals performed the wrong "examination," thereby creating a conflict within the state and contravening U.S. Supreme Court precedent.

As In re Interest of M.B. aptly points out, a truant child "can never go to school yesterday." See 101 Wn. App. at 448. Because the contempt order issued by the trial court here seeks to turn back the hands of time and force RSL-3B and Mr. Gorman to perform tasks retroactively, a punitive sanction exists. "When the contempt involves the prior conduct of an isolated, prohibited act, the resulting sanction has no coercive effect." Bagwell, 512 U.S. at 829. Even when the contempt order imposes both civil and criminal relief, "the criminal feature of the order is dominant and fixes its character for purposes of review." Hicks, 485 U.S. at 638 n.10.

By avoiding the dispositive "character" of the relief awarded by the trial court, the Court of Appeals erred in branding the contempt as civil.

# B. Division Three Reverses Its Own Precedent Sub Silentio

Reducing its holding from *Holiday v. City of Moses Lake* to a mere "statement," Division Three overruled itself without convening en banc. Op. at 20. In *Holiday*, the court construed the contempt statute and held unequivocally that "a finding that a violation of a previous court order was intentional is required for a finding of contempt." 157 Wn. App. at 355. This holding remained the law in Division Three until the court below issued its opinion here. *See In re Marriage of Hess*, 178 Wn. App. 1010, 2013 WL 6255171, at \*1 (2013) (unpublished opinion).

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