RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 22, 2016, 11:32 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER

CLERK

T

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 92574-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COURT OF APPEALS NO. 31435-9-III)

In Re RAPID SETTLEMENTS, LTD'S Application for Transfer of Structured Settlement Payment Rights

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY Cause No. 04-2-02767-2

Medora A. Marisseau, WSBA #23114
Jacque E. St. Romain, WSBA #44167
KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300
Seattle, WA 98104
206-223-1313
Attorneys for Symetra Life Insurance Company

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

On January 2, 2013, Symetra filed a supplemental reply in support of its motion for contempt to address the points raised in 3B's motion for continuance. CP 948. On January 10, the Court issued a letter decision granting Symetra's motion for contempt and filed the order of contempt against 3B and Gorman. *Id.*, CP 524-28. Specifically, the Court ordered the following relief:

(1) 3B is ordered to pay Symetra for its costs and attorneys' fees incurred in bringing this motion for contempt and all costs and attorneys' fees incurred by Symetra in the Harris County, Texas, action between August 20, 2012, when the Court's Temporary Restraining Order was served on 3B and the date of this Order of Contempt. Symetra has

- submitted a cost and fee bill showing the amount of these costs and fees is \$47,024.50.
- (2) Attorney Gorman, as attorney and agent for 3B, is ordered to pay Symetra a one-time forfeiture pursuant to RCW 7.21,030(1)(b) of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00).
- (3) In order to purge themselves of this contempt charge, 3B and its attorney Gorman must strike all pending motions in the Harris County, Texas, action, and agree not to file any motion or take any other action in said case while an injunction from this Court restraining them from doing so is in effect.

Rapid III, 189 Wn. App. at 596-97; CP 526.

On February 11, 2013, 3B and Gorman filed a Notice of Appeal of the order of contempt. CP 951. The Court of Appeals heard oral argument on August 18, 2015, and issued a decision largely upholding the Superior Court's order of contempt. *See Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. 584.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals found the following: (1) the trial court had jurisdiction over Gorman; (2) the findings of contempt were sufficient and supported by substantial evidence; (3) the relief ordered by the trial court was largely appropriate, given the civil character of the contempt proceeding; and (4) the contempt order contained a valid purge clause, making the one-time forfeiture of \$1,000 a civil penalty, rather than a criminal one. *Id.* (holding that the purge clause here is valid because it "serves remedial aims" and "the condition is reasonably related to the cause or nature of the contempt.") The Court of Appeals found the

trial court correctly ordered 3B to reimburse Symetra for the fees and costs incurred because of 3B's violations of the temporary restraining order, but remanded for the trial court to limit the recovery to only those fees incurred by Symetra in responding to 3B's actions, rather than those fees incurred by Symetra in responding to actions of FinServ and/or A.M.Y.² *Id.* at 607, 612. This ruling is the subject of the Petition for Review.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Petitioners Have Completely Failed to Establish That</u>
<u>Discretionary Review Is Warranted under RAP 13.4(b).</u>

A petition for review to the Supreme Court will only be accepted in four situations:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioners fail to cite any section of this rule. Petitioners completely fail to address subsections (3) and (4). To the extent Petitioners

² FinServ and A.M.Y. were joined in this matter on November 30, 2012. CP 330-31, 354-55.

attempt to address subsections (1) and (2), they fail to establish that either applies in this case. Therefore, review should be denied.

i. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is Not in Conflict with a Decision of the Supreme Court.

Petitioners appear to assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *International Union v. Bagwell*, 512 U.S. 821, 114 S. Ct. 2552 (1994), or this Court's decision of *In re Personal Restraint of King*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 756 P.3d 1303 (1998). Petitioners fail to show that a conflict with either of those cases, or any other case, exists.

Petitioners principally contend that the contempt sanctions order upheld by the Court of Appeals contained an invalid purge clause, which they assert automatically converted the entire contempt sanction from civil to criminal contempt. Petitioner's argument is flawed because the order upheld on appeal imposed civil contempt, not criminal contempt, and is consistent with *Bagwell* and *King*.

Bagwell does not conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals. As Bagwell expressly states, a contempt fine is considered "civil and remedial" if it either "coerces the defendant into compliance with the court's order, [or] . . . compensates the complainant for losses sustained." Bagwell, 512 U.S. at 829 (emphasis added). "Where a fine is not

compensatory, it is civil only if the contemnor is afforded an opportunity to purge." *Id.* No purge clause is necessary where the fine is compensatory. *See Gompers v. Buck's Stove & Range Co.*, 221 U.S. 418, 441-42, 31 S. Ct. 492, 55 L.Ed. 797 (1911) (noting that a defendant can be "punished" in a civil contempt proceeding as long as the "punishment" is designed to compensate the party injured by the contempt).

Here, as the Court of Appeals expressly found, the sanctions against 3B were compensatory. *See Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 606. They were specifically designed to compensate Symetra for the costs and fees it incurred because of 3B's failure to comply with the TRO. *Id.* at 607-08, 611-12.

As this Court stated in *King*, "In determining whether a particular contempt sanction is civil or criminal, we look to the substance of the proceeding and the character of the relief that the proceeding will afford." 110 Wn.2d at 799. *See also State v. John*, 69 Wn. App. 615, 618, 849 P.2d 1268 (1993). Washington's contempt statute expressly allows a civil contempt order awarding payment to a party for losses suffered due to the contempt. RCW 7.21.030(3). Because the contempt sanctions against 3B were compensatory, they cannot be considered criminal; rather, they are civil only, and nothing in *Bagwell* or *King* is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' contempt order against 3B.

The sanctions against Gorman are similarly consistent with *Bagwell* as the court is authorized to order a forfeiture not to exceed \$2,000 per day as long as the contempt continues. RCW 7.21.030(2)(b). Here, the Superior Court imposed a lesser sanction against Gorman by fining him only \$1,000 and including a purge clause. *Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 615-16; CP 526. The Court of Appeals also found that the purge clause served remedial aims and was reasonably related to the nature of the contempt. *Id.* at 613. This is in accord with *Bagwell*, which holds that a fine imposed in conjunction with a contempt order and which is not designed to compensate the injured party can be criminal in nature only if there is no purge clause. *Bagwell*, 512 U.S. at 829.

Similarly, *King* states, "[A] contempt sanction is criminal if it is determinate and unconditional; the sanction is civil if it is conditional and indeterminate, *i.e.*, where the contemnor carries the keys of the prison door in his own pocket and can let himself out by simply obeying the court order." *In re King*, 110 Wn.2d at 800.

King further states, and the Court of Appeals agreed, "In the context of civil contempt, the law presumes that one is capable of performing those actions required by the Court." Id. at 804. "Thus, inability to comply is an affirmative defense and the contemnor has both the burden of production on ability to comply, as well as the burden of

persuasion." Id. (emphasis added, internal citations omitted). King specifically holds that the burden is on the contemnor (Gorman) to offer evidence in the trial court of the inability to comply with the purge clause. Id. "The contemnor must offer evidence as to his inability to comply and the evidence must be of a kind the court finds credible." Id. King reversed the Court of Appeals' decision to grant King's personal restraint petition because "there is no indication from the record that Mr. King ever brought a motion before the trial court to review his incarceration." Id.

Similarly, Petitioners' argument that they could not fulfill the purge condition came too late. *Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 616. Petitioners, like King, failed to present any argument in the trial court that they could not comply with the purge clause. *Id.* This issue was first raised only on appeal. Amended Brief of Appellants RSL-3B-IL, Ltd. and E. John Gorman, at 15-19. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to "entertain this issue," stating: "Since 3B and Mr. Gorman had ample advance notice of the proposed purge condition, any inability to comply with it was an affirmative defense that they needed to raise before the contempt order was entered, not after." *Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 616. This is in accord with *King*.

³ Rapid III, 189 Wn. App. at 616 (citing RAP 2.5(a)).

The burden was on Gorman to petition the Benton County Superior Court to modify the contempt order if he truly believed he could not comply with the purge clause. *Id.*; *U.S. v. Rylander*, 460 U.S. 752, 757, 75 L. Ed. 2d 521, 103 S. Ct. 1548 (1983); *Maggio v. Zeitz*, 333 U.S. 56, 75-76, 68 S. Ct. 401, 92 L. Ed. 476 (1948). Gorman failed to offer any evidence to the Superior Court regarding his alleged inability to comply with the Court's contempt order and did not make any such argument until he appealed the order. Therefore, as the Court of Appeals held, the \$1,000 fine, in conjunction with the purge clause, is not a criminal sanction and there is no conflict between this decision and any decision of the U.S. Supreme Court or the Washington Supreme Court.

ii. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Any Other Decision of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioners have failed to argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. However, to the extent that they contend that it conflicts with *Britannia Holdings Ltd. v. Greer*, 127 Wn. App. 926, 933-34, 113 P.3d 1041 (2005), *review denied*, 156 Wn.2d 1032, 134 P.3d 232 (2006), or *Holiday v. City of Moses Lake*, 157 Wn. App. 347, 236 P.3d 981 (2010), they fail to show any such conflict.

Like *King*, *Britannia Holdings* holds that "the law presumes that one is capable of performing those actions required by the court." 127 Wn. App. at 933. While *Britannia Holdings* does require a threshold determination of a contemnor's ability to comply with the purge clause, this case does not apply here because it does not address a situation where the contemnor (Gorman) had ample notice of the purge clause and failed to assert an inability to comply until the appeal. *See Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 615-16.

Pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Court of Appeals correctly decided not to entertain Gorman's alleged inability to cure where this issue was not raised below, despite his knowledge of the proposed purge clause almost two months before the trial court issued the order on contempt. *Id.* at 615-18 (citing RAP 2.5(a)); CP 356-58.

Holiday v. City of Moses Lake also does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision. In Holiday, the Court stated that "a finding that a violation of a previous court order was intentional is required for a finding of contempt." 157 Wn. App. at 355.

However, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted here, neither *Holiday* nor the contempt statute itself, RCW 7.21.030, requires an express written finding that the violation was intentional. *Rapid III*, 187 Wn. App. at 605 ("When the Washington legislature intends to require

that an explicit finding must be made for a court to act, it says so. ...

Nothing in chapter 7.21 RCW requires that the court make a written finding of intentional conduct.")

Similarly, other Court of Appeals decisions have not required that the contemnor have intentionally violated the court order, and, have found an actor to be in contempt despite the fact that he never read the TRO with which he was served. See In re Estates of Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. 356, 364-65, 212 P.3d 579 (2009). "The violation of a court order without reasonable excuse is deemed willful." Id. at 364. As long as the act that violates the TRO is intentional, the violation is intentional. Id. at 366. Holiday essentially says the same thing, i.e., if the act that violates a court order is intentional, the actor is in contempt.

Here, the Benton County Superior Court made, and the Court of Appeals upheld, multiple findings showing the actions of 3B and Gorman to be intentional. The Superior Court expressly found that, after having actual notice of the TRO, 3B and Gorman: (1) continued pursuing the lawsuit in Harris County, Texas; (2) failed to strike the pending motions in the Harris County lawsuit; (3) opposed Symetra's motion for an extension on 3B's pending motions in the Texas action; and (4) argued at two different hearings in the Harris County action. CP 524-25, Rapid III, 189 Wn. App. at 602-03. Each of these findings shows an intentional act by

3B and Gorman in direct violation of the TRO. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's findings and such a decision does not conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals did not "reverse its own precedent sub silentio." Petition at 12.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Awarded Symetra Attorneys' Fees Incurred after the TRO Expired.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred by awarding Symetra attorneys' fees incurred after the expiration of the TRO. However, RAP 13.4(b) does not authorize review in every case. Even if the Court of Appeals erred, review would not be warranted because Petitioners have failed to show that this alleged error satisfies the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

In any event, the Court of Appeals did not err. RCW 7.21.030 specifically allows the court to order a person found in contempt to pay a party for any losses suffered by that party as a result of the contempt. RCW 7.21.030(3). Washington courts have long held that compensatory damages or fines payable to the injured party as relief are proper in a civil contempt proceeding. *State ex rel. Lemon v. Coffin*, 52 Wn.2d 894, 896, 332 P.2d 1096 (1958).

The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals correctly found that Symetra was entitled to the attorneys' fees and costs incurred after the TRO expired on August 31, 2012, because those fees and costs were specifically incurred because of the contemptuous acts of Petitioners. CP 526; *Rapid III*, 189 Wn. App. at 610-11.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Refused to Consider The Issue of Personal Jurisdiction.

Gorman's argument regarding personal jurisdiction also fails. Gorman, despite his arguments to the contrary, had appeared in Washington to represent 3B. He was admitted pro hac vice in the trial court for the purposes of this very case and argued on 3B's behalf before the Court of Appeals. *See Rapid II*, 166 Wn. App. at 685 (listing Gorman as one of the attorneys appearing on behalf of appellant). The Court of Appeals specifically addressed this issue, stating:

We have no doubt that Mr. Gorman's appearance in Washington in a legal proceeding whose outcome he then collaterally attacks elsewhere, in contempt of court, is a contact of such character that maintenance of the contempt action does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

Rapid III, 189 Wn. App. at 599, n.5.

Further, Gorman failed to even raise this issue until Petitioners' reply brief before the Court of Appeals; therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly did not address this issue. *Id.*; RAP 2.5(a); *In re Marriage of Maddix*, 41 Wn. App. 248, 251, 703 P.2d 1062 (1985) (holding that one

waives any challenges to personal jurisdiction if he/she does not request "an immediate ruling on the jurisdictional issue.").

D. Attorneys' Fees on Appeal

Symetra seeks its fees and expenses on appeal pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) and RCW 7.21.030(3). See R.A. Hanson Co. v. Magnuson, 79 Wn. App. 497, 503, 903 P.2d 496 (1995) ("RAHCO successfully defended Witherspoon Kelley's appeal of the contempt order and is entitled to attorney fees on appeal.").

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should deny the Petition for Review because Petitioners have failed to show that any of the provisions of RAP 13.4(b) for accepting review apply.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 22nd day of January, 2016.

KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL

Medora A. Marisseau, WSBA #23114

Jacque E. St. Romain, WSBA #44167 Attorneys for Symetra Life Insurance

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